IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 86,601 [RELATED CASE NO. 86,624]

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE, DIVISION OF FINANCE,

Appellant,

vs.

CREDICORP, INC., et al.,,

Appellees.

FILED SID J. WHITE OCT 25 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chilef Depoty Clerk

4

By.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT, CASE NO. 94-440

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE DIVISION OF FINANCE

> PAUL C. STADLER, JR. Assistant General Counsel Office of the Comptroller The Capitol, Suite 1302 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0350 (904) 488-9896 Attorney for Appellant Dept. of Banking and Finance

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As used herein the Petitioner, the State of Florida Department of Banking and Finance, Division of Finance, will be referred to as the Department. Credicorp, Inc., John Rheinfrank, individually and as President of Credicorp, Inc., and Stevan W. Brown, individually and as Vice President of Credicorp, Inc., will be referred to as Credicorp.

The Department adopts the recitation of the facts as stated by the First District Court of Appeal in Part I of the opinion as modified below:

> Credicorp, originally incorporated under the name FAFCO in 1990, is a Texas corporation not authorized to do business in Florida. Credicorp operates a nationwide mail-order catalog business, and its only place of business is in Dallas, Texas. Credicorp has been operating in Florida since 1990, but none of its offices, employees, or independent contractors are located in Florida. Its services include providing discount coupons for retail establishments and privilege card benefits for discounts at hotels and car rental agencies. It advertises in Florida by sending solicitations to Florida residents. Certain solicitation forms placed in the record read:

# TELEGRAM Approval No.:

[account number specified) Approval Expiration Date: [date specified] [Name and address of targeted individual]

Congratulations [targeted individual],

You have been pre-approved for a Gold Card with a \$10,000 line of credit.

\*Mail your \$29.95 annual fee by check or money order by (specified date) along with this signed notice to activate your credit immediately.

Failure to do so will result in our reevaluation of your

eligibility. Make check or money order payable to Credicorp Gold Card.

Sincerely, Robert J. Armstrong New Accounts Manager Respond Today!

Recently the solicitations have included a 60-day money back guarantee and a disclaimer in small type indicating Credicorp's lack of affiliation with a financial institution. For the relevant time period, the above solicitation constituted the only document provided to a Florida consumer before the consumer responded by sending money to Credicorp. The solicitation does not list any services that Credicorp provides and does not indicate that the "Gold Card" is actually a catalog card that can only be used to purchase merchandise from Credicorp's catalogs.

As of June 1993, approximately 1,600,000 individuals nationwide had submitted membership applications and paid the \$29.95 annual fee to Credicorp. On a single day, June 24, 1992, Florida residents sent Credicorp 243 applications, each accompanied by \$29.95. A small sampling of Credicorp's membership records established that Credicorp solicited advance fees from at least 640 Florida residents. From a quick review of order forms in the record, it appears that Credicorp has received over one thousand merchandise orders from Florida residents.

After the customer submits a preapproved application pays the membership fee, Credicorp mails and a "fulfillment package" to the customer. This package was the first notice to the consumer that he or she has joined a catalog shopping club. The fulfillment package includes a "Home Values and Gifts" catalog to facilitate purchases from Credicorp. The customer may then purchase merchandise by submitting a completed and signed order form, contained in the catalog, to Credicorp. According to the price list and terms of Credicorp's catalog shopping program, two prices were available to a Credicorp customer -- a cash price plus shipping and handling or a credit price with a 12% financing fee. A credit order requires a cash down payment. Any on credit arrives merchandise purchased with an installment coupon book for each item ordered. Upon receipt of an order form, Credicorp verifies the customer's current membership, the status of the member's account, and the availability of items ordered. After approval, Credicorp fills the order and ships the

merchandise from Texas to the out-of-state customer via interstate carrier.

In July 1992, the Department advised Credicorp that it might be acting as a loan broker in violation of Chapter 687, Florida Statutes. Subsequently, the Department advised Credicorp that it might also be an unlicensed retail installment seller in violation of Chapter 520, Florida Statutes. Credicorp sent a letter in response, indicating its position that it does not do business in Florida and, even if it did, it does not fall within the definition of "loan broker" because it arranges credit only between its customers and itself.

On January 13, 1993, the Department filed an administrative complaint charging Credicorp with violating various provisions of chapters 516, 520, 687 and 817, Florida Statutes. Before the final hearing, the Department withdrew its allegations that Credicorp violated chapters 516 and 817. The Department alleged Credicorp was a "loan broker" under chapter 687 and was violating section 687.141 by collecting an advance fee from borrowers in exchange for its services as a loan broker and making misleading representations or omissions in connection with the offer or sale of its services. The Department also alleged that Credicorp was an unlicensed retail installment seller in violation of section 520.32(1). Credicorp timely filed a response to the administrative complaint and requested a formal hearing.

On July 23, 1993, a DOAH hearing officer convened an administrative hearing. The Department called its lead investigator as its only witness and placed in the record examples of solicitations, membership numerous fulfillment packages, and order forms. On October 4, 1993, the hearing officer issued findings of fact and conclusions of law recommending that the Department order Credicorp to cease and desist all activities in violation of chapter 687, levy an administrative fine against Credicorp in the amount of \$3,578,000 and assess additional fines of \$250,000 against Rheinfrank and Brown .... The Department's final order essentially adopted the hearing officer's preliminary statement, findings of fact and conclusions of law except that it rejected the hearing officer's finding that Credicorp's solicitations operated as a fraud or deception upon Florida residents. Although the hearing officer did not include a specific recommendation that Credicorp cease and desist any activities in violation of chapter 520, the Department so ordered. Credicorp timely appealed. Therefore, Chapter

520 is a consumer protection statute enacted pursuant to this states' police powers and is not a taxing statute with the sole purpose of generating revenues for the state.

On July 17, 1995, the District Court entered its opinion, which held as violative of the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution the license requirement and the annual fee requirement of The Retail Installment Sales Act, Chapter 520, Part II, Florida Statutes, upon a retail installment seller that actively solicits and sells to Florida residents, but reaches this State only by United States mail and common carrier. In addition, the court certified the following question:

> MAY FLORIDA IMPOSE A LICENSING REQUIREMENT AND ANNUAL FEE UPON A RETAIL INSTALLMENT SELLER THAT ACTIVELY SOLICITS AND SELLS TO FLORIDA RESIDENTS, BUT REACHES THIS STATE ONLY BY UNITED STATES MAIL AND COMMON CARRIER?

On September 13, 1995, the District Court certified an additional question:

MAY FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONALLY APPLY THE LOAN BROKER ACT, SECTION 687.14-687.148, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO AN OUT-OF-STATE RETAIL INSTALLMENT SELLER WHICH, UNDER THE COMMERCE CLAUSE, MAY NOT BE COMPELLED TO BE LICENSED IN FLORIDA AS A RETAIL INSTALLMENT SALES COMPANY UNDER 520.32, FLORIDA STATUTES?

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Department is not attempting to tax an out-of-state seller. Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 520, the Department is attempting to prohibit misrepresentations regarding ongoing retail installment contracts with residents of the State of Florida. Therefore, the licensing requirement of Section 520.32(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), is used for regulatory purposes. See Section 215.321, Fla. Stat. (1991). The United States Supreme Court has long recognized the distinction between "fees" assessed for benefits conferred and "taxes." License fees are a permissible charge to help defray the cost of that regulation and are therefore not a burden in the constitutional sense. Credicorp has the burden of proving that the license fees are arbitrary or unreasonable. Credicorp by its facial challenge to the validity of Section 520.32, Fla. Stat. (1991), has failed to meet that burden. Additionally, no attempt is being made to impose a fee as a condition precedent to the privilege of making sales to Florida residents. The Department merely seeks to require persons who wish to enter in to extended business relationships with Florida residents to pay their fair share of the regulatory costs to ensure that Florida consumers are protected from misrepresentation. Based upon the foregoing, the Department submits that the District Court has misapplied cases dealing the imposition of revenue producing measures to the case at bar which involves a state truth-in-lending statute which imposes regulatory fees in matters of legitimate

#### ARGUMENT

I.

#### OVERVIEW

Section 520.32(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), provides that "[a] person may not engage in or transact the business of a retail seller engaging in retail installment transactions ... without a license ...." A nonrefundable application fee not to exceed \$200 must accompany each application. Section 520.32(2), Fla. Stat. (1991). Every two years a renewal fee of up to \$200 must be remitted to keep a license active. Section 520.32(3), Fla. Stat. (1991). All funds received must be deposited into the Regulatory Trust Fund. Section 215.321, Fla. Stat. (1991).

The Department is also authorized to conduct investigations and examinations, <u>see</u> section 520.996, Fla. Stat. (1991), issue and serve subpoenas, administer oaths, seek injunctions, issue cease and desist orders, and impose administrative fines. Section 520.994, Fla. Stat. (1991). The Department may deny an application for license or revoke a license where, as in the case at bar, there has been misrepresentation in retail installment transactions. Section 520.995(1)(b) and (2)(a and b), Fla. Stat. (1991). Accordingly, Chapter 520 fosters consumer protection by requiring persons to demonstrate fitness for licensure prior to entering into retail installment transactions with Florida residents and further requires that fitness for licensure be maintained. Therefore, Chapter 520 is a consumer protection statute enacted pursuant to

this state's police powers and is not a taxing statute with the sole purpose of generating revenues for the state.

II.

#### APPLICATION OF LICENSING PROVISIONS TO INTERSTATE COMMERCE

The District Court, on page 15 of its opinion, accurately concluded:

The instant case is analogous to the above regulatory cases. The licensing provision in section 520.32 involves a local concern that the state has the power to regulate, that has not been regulated by Congress, and that does not discriminate against, or in any respect unnecessarily obstruct, interstate commerce. Moreover, the provision is designed to safeguard the people of Florida from deceitful practices and conduct such as that undertaken by Credicorp.

However, despite this observation, the District Court on page 10 held:

We are constrained by these cases and find the licensing provisions in chapter 520 may not be constitutionally applied to Credicorp because they constitute a flat sum licensing tax which, according to the above cases, violates the Commerce Clause. If we were writing on a clean slate, we would hold otherwise.

In so holding, the District Court relied in part on <u>Quill</u> <u>Corp. v. North Dakota</u>, 112 S. Ct. 1904 (1992). Opinion at 9. The Department respectfully submits that <u>Quill Corp.</u> has been misapprehended as it pertained to the imposition of a use tax on an out-of-state mail order seller. In contrast, the Department is not attempting to tax an out-of-state seller. Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 520, the Department is attempting to prohibit misrepresentations regarding ongoing retail installment contracts

with residents of the State of Florida. Therefore, the licensing requirement of Section 520.32(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), is used for regulatory purposes. <u>See</u> Section 215.321, Fla. Stat. (1991). The United States Supreme Court has long recognized the distinction between "fees" assessed for benefits conferred and "taxes." That Court in <u>National Cable Television Ass'n, Inc. v. United States</u>, 415 U.S. 336, 340-41, 94 S. Ct. 1146, 1149, 39 L.Ed.2d 370, 375 (1974) (emphasis added, footnotes omitted) stated:

> Taxation is a legislative function, and Congress, which is the sole organ for levying taxes, may act arbitrarily and disregard benefits bestowed by the Government on a taxpayer and go solely on ability to pay, based on property or income. A fee, however, is incident to a voluntary act. e.g., a request that a public agency permit an applicant to practice law or medicine or construct a house or run a broadcast station. The public agency performing the services normally may exact a fee for a grant which, presumably, bestows a benefit on the applicant, not shared by other members of society....

> The lawmaker may, in light of the "public policy or interest served," make the assessment heavy if the lawmaker wants to discourage the activity; or it may make the levy slight if a bounty is to be bestowed; or the lawmaker may make a substantial levy to keep entrepreneurs from exploiting a semipublic cause for their own personal aggrandizement. Such assessments are in the nature of "taxes" which under our constitutional regime are traditionally levied by Congress.

> There is not doubt that the main function of the [Federal Communications] Commission is to safeguard the public interest in the broadcasting activities of members of the industry. If assessments are made by the Commission against members of the industry which are sufficient to recoup costs to the commission for its oversight, the ... broadcasters would be paying not only for benefits they received but for the protective services rendered the public by the Commission.

Similarly, in the case at bar the license fees collected pursuant

to Chapter 520 recoup the costs for the benefits received by the retail installment sales industry and to the protective services rendered to the public.

This distinction between a licensing fee and a tax was also recognized by the Supreme Court in Union Brokerage Co. v. Jensen, 322 U.S. 202, 64 S. Ct. 967 (1944), which held that a licensing fee was not a tax as it was "supervisory and not a fiscal measure." Id. at 210, 64 S. Ct. at 973. The Supreme Court in Jensen also recognized the distinction between a state granting companies "certificates to do business within her borders [as] a conventional means of assuring responsibility and fair dealing on the part of foreign corporations coming into a State," Id. at 210, 64 S. Ct. at 972, and instances where "a foreign corporation [is] merely coming into [a state] to contribute to or to conclude a unitary interstate transaction...." Id. at 211, 64 S. Ct. at 973. These two fundamental distinctions make <u>Ouill Corp.</u> inapplicable to the case at bar. See also California v. Thompson, 313 U.S. 109, 61 S. Ct. 930 (1941) (wherein the Supreme Court upheld a license fee as the statute was not a revenue measure, but was a permissible exercise of the state's power to regulate matters of local concern).

Very persuasive is the case of <u>Interstate Towing Ass'n, Inc.,</u> <u>v. City of Cincinnati, Ohio</u>, 6 F.3d 1154 (6th Cir. 1993) (hereinafter <u>Interstate</u>). In <u>Interstate</u> out-of-state towing services challenged, on Commerce Clause grounds, Cincinnati's \$80 licensing fee requirement for tow trucks. In rejecting this challenge, the circuit court first observed that the fee was not

discriminatory because no distinction was made between in-state and out-of-state firms. Id. at 1162. Second, the court noted that the city had a legitimate local interest in regulating tow trucks and that the fee was used to defray inspection costs. Id. at 1162-63. Third, the court concluded that the license fee was not an impermissible burden on interstate commerce. Id. at 1163-64.<sup>1</sup> Specifically, the circuit court stated:

[Consumer protection] concerns have consistently been regarded as legitimate, innately local in nature, and presumptively valid, even where regulations enacted to address those concerns have an impact on commerce.

Id. at 1163. Similarly, in the case at bar, Credicorp has failed to prove that the biennial fees imposed by the State of Florida violate the Commerce Clause. <u>See also Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc.</u>, 397 U.S. 137, 90 S. Ct. 844, 25 L.Ed.2d 174 (1970).

Aldens, Inc. v. LaFollette, 552 F.2d 745 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 880, 98 S. Ct. 236, 54 L.Ed.2d 161 (1977), is another case analogous with the present case. In <u>LaFollette</u>, the state of Wisconsin exercised its police power to prevent an out-ofstate mail order catalogue company, with no physical presence within the state, from charging usurious interest rates to Wisconsin citizens who utilized the company's credit plan. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As discussed below, the \$200 license fee amounts to only about 1% of the advance fees that Credicorp has received from Florida residents. In addition, as of June 1993, approximately 1,600,000 individuals nationwide had paid the annual fee, Opinion at 6, which amounts to estimated revenues of \$47,920,000. If every state in the union imposed a \$200 license fee on Credicorp, such fees would amount to a mere \$10,000.00 or .02% of the estimated advance fees received.

court held that the fee imposed under Wisconsin's police action was not a tax, but an interstate company's constitutionally approved contribution towards the payment of the administrative expenses incurred by the state in implementing the act. Id. at 750; see also Toulsey v. North American Van Lines, Inc., 752 F.2d. 96, 100, 103 (4th Cir. 1985) (business opportunity registration required); Silver v. Woolf, 694 F.2d 8, 11-12 (2d Cir. 1982), cert denied 460 U.S. 1070, 103 S. Ct. 1525, 75 L.Ed.2d 948 (1983). (which distinguished a license fee from a tax); Underhill Associates, Inc. v. Bradshaw, 674 F.2d 293 (4th Cir. 1982) (which required out-ofstate brokers to register despite commerce clause objections);<sup>2</sup> California v. Fairfax Family Fund, Inc., 47 Cal. Rptr. 812 (Cal. Dist. Ct. App. 1964), appeal dismissed, 382 U.S. 1, 86 S. Ct. 34, 15 L. Ed.2d 6 (1965) (out-of-state small loan company, with no physical presence within the state, was required to be licensed); cf. National Awareness Foundation v. Abrams, 50 F.3d 1159, 1165 (2d Cir. 1995) ("Thus, fees that serve not as revenue taxes, but rather as means to meet the expenses incident to the administration of a regulation and to the maintenance of public order in the matter regulated are constitutionally permissible [under the First Amendment]."); New York State Dept. of Environmental Conservation v. United States Dept. of Energy, 850 F. Supp. 132 (N.D.N.Y. 1994)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>While LaFollette, Toulsey, Silver, and Bradshaw predate <u>Quill Corp.</u>, they were decided after <u>National Bella Hess</u>, Inc. v. <u>Department of Revenue of Ill.</u>, 386 U.S. 753, 87 S. Ct. 1389, 18 L.Ed.2d 505 (1967), and <u>Complete Auto Transit</u>, Inc. v. Brady, 430 U.S. 274, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L.Ed.2d 326 (1977), which was relied on by the Supreme Court in <u>Quill Corp.</u>

(regulatory fees assessed against in-state facilities are not a tax); <u>Bateman v. City of Winter Park</u>, 37 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1948) (for state tax purposes a tax is a fee exacted solely for revenue purposes); <u>City of Jacksonville v. Jacksonville Maritime Ass'n</u>, 492 So.2d 770, 772 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (same); <u>Derico v. Duncan</u>, 410 So.2d 27 (Ala. 1982) (which held that a licensing fee assessed to persons in the business of making consumer loans was not merely a revenue-producing tax).

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