FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 4 1995

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE, DIVISION OF FINANCE,

Appellants,

SC CASE NO. 86,601 DCA CASE NO. 94-00440 DOAH CASE NO. 93-0911

v.

CREDICORP, INCORPORATED, a Texas corporation, John Rheinfrank, individually and as President of Credicorp, Inc., Stevan W. Brown, individually and as Vice President of Credicorp, Inc.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT CASE NO. 94-440

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Department prosecuted Credicorp under Florida's Retail Installment Sales Act, Sections 520.30, et seq., Florida Statutes (1991), for soliciting memberships in Florida without a Florida license. It has long been settled, both in Florida and under the decisions of the United States Supreme Court, that mail order such as Credicorp are exempt from state licensure requirements and fees in those states where they lack a physical presence. States which have ignored this "bright-line rule" have found their regulations or taxes as applied to non-resident entities stricken as violative of the Commerce Clause of the Untied States Constitution. Here, Credicorp has no physical presence in Florida by virtue of having neither offices, agents, solicitors, independent contractors, nor property in the state. undisputed that Credicorp's only contacts with the State of Florida are by United States mail or interstate carrier. As the District Court held, the Department's application of the Retail Installment Sales Act to Credicorp under these circumstances offends the Commerce Clause and cannot be sustained.

The Department's application of the Retail Installment Sales Act also violates the more recent Commerce Clause test formulated by the Supreme Court in Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady, 430 U.S. 274, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1977). Under that test, a state regulation or tax does not violate the Commerce Clause if the regulation (1) is applied to an interstate activity with a substantial nexus with the regulating jurisdiction; (2) is

fairly apportioned; (3) does not discriminate against interstate commerce; and (4) is fairly related to the services provided by the state. The Florida licensing requirement contained in Chapter 520 as applied to Credicorp fails each prong of this test. More particularly, Chapter 520 fails the "substantial nexus" prong of this test since Credicorp's contacts with Florida are limited to contacts with Florida residents via the United States mail or common carrier. As has long been established and recently affirmed in <u>Quill Corp. v. North Dakota</u>, 504 U.S. 298, 112 S. Ct. 1904, 119 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1992), such contacts are insufficient under the Commerce Clause to sustain the application of the licensing requirement.

Even if the licensing provisions of Florida's Retail Installment Sales Act could be constitutionally applied to a foreign retail seller, it cannot be validly applied to Credicorp because the statute requires that covered retail installment contracts be entered into in Florida. The overwhelming evidence presented at final hearing established that the contracts Credicorp enters into with its Florida members are entered into in Texas—not Florida. Accordingly, the Department is statutorily prohibited from applying the Act to Credicorp and the District Court's determination to set aside the penalties imposed on Credicorp by the Department's erroneous application of the Retail Installment Sales Act to Credicorp must be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE DEPARTMENT'S APPLICATION OF THE LICENSING PROVISIONS OF SECTION 520.32, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991) TO CREDICORP VIOLATED THE COMMERCE CLAUSE.

In the Administrative Complaint, Credicorp was charged with violating Sections 520.32(1) and 520.995(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1991) [formally Section 520.331(1)(a), Florida Statutes]¹, of Florida's Retail Installment Sales Act by engaging in retail installment sales transactions without obtaining a Florida license. (R. 1245). Section 520.32 of the Act provides:

- (1) A person may not engage in or transact the business of a retail seller engaging in retail installment transactions as defined in this part or operate a branch of such business without a license, except that a license is not required for a retail seller whose retail installment transactions are limited to the honoring of credit cards issued by dealers in oil and petroleum products licensed to do business in this state.
- (2) An application for a license under this part must be submitted to the department on such forms as the department may prescribe by rule. If the department determines that an application should be granted, it shall issue the license for a period not to exceed two years. A nonrefundable application fee not exceeding \$200 shall be set by rule and accompany an initial application for the principal place of business and each branch location of a retail installment seller.
- (3) A renewal fee not exceeding \$200 shall be set by rule. Biennial licensure periods and procedures for renewal of

¹ Section 520.995(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1991) provides:

⁽¹⁾ The following acts are violations of this chapter and constitute grounds for the disciplinary actions specified in subsection (2):

⁽a) Failure to comply with any provision of this chapter, any rule or order adopted pursuant to this chapter, or any written agreement entered into with the department

licenses may also be established by the department by rule. A license that is not renewed at the end of the biennium established by the department shall automatically expire and revert to inactive status. Such inactive license may be reactivated within 6 months after the expiration date upon submission of a completed reactivation form, payment of the application fee, and payment of a reactivation fee equal to the application fee. A license that is not reactivated within 6 months after becoming inactive may not be reactivated.

- (4) Each license must specify the location for which it is issued and must be conspicuously displayed at that location. If a licensee's principal place of business or branch location changes, the licensee shall notify the department and the department shall endorse the change of location without charge. A licensee may not transact business as a retail installment seller except under the name by which it is licensed. A license issued under this part is not transferrable or assignable.
- (5) The department may deny an initial application for a license under this part if the applicant or any person with power to direct the management or policies of the applicant is the subject of a pending criminal prosecution or governmental enforcement action, in any jurisdiction, until conclusion of such criminal prosecution or enforcement action.
- (6) Each seller shall designate and maintain an agent in this state for service of process.

As used in Section 520.32(1), "[r]etail installment transaction" is defined as "a contract to sell or furnish or the sale of or the furnishing of goods or services by a retail seller to a retail buyer pursuant to a retail installment contract or a revolving account." Section 520.31(11), Florida Statutes (1991). "Retail installment contract" or "contract" is defined as "an instrument or instruments reflecting one or more retail installment transactions entered into in this state pursuant to which goods or services may be paid for in installments. It does not include a revolving account or an instrument reflecting a sale pursuant thereto." Section 520.31(10), Florida Statutes (1991).

Significantly, Credicorp was not charged with any other violation of the Act² -- only its failure to obtain a Florida license to engage in interstate retail installment sales. Throughout the proceedings below, Credicorp has steadfastly maintained that the State of Florida cannot constitutionally require out-of-state entities like Credicorp that have no physical presence in this state and whose only contacts with this State are through common carrier and the United States mail to obtain a license and pay a license fee for the privilege of engaging in the business of an interstate retail installment seller under the Commerce Clause.

Notwithstanding, the Department applied the licensing provisions to Credicorp after adopting the hearing officer's conclusion that "Florida's requirement that all retail installment sellers doing business in Florida be licensed does not unduly burden interstate commerce and does not discriminate in any way against interstate commerce." (R. 1366). The Department also

Although the Department alleged that Credicorp mailed out deceptive brochures (R. 1238) and the Act provides that false, deceptive or misleading advertising is grounds for a disciplinary action, Credicorp was not charged with deceptive advertising under <u>See</u> Section 520.995(1)(e), Fla. Stat. Rather, to the extent Credicorp was penalized for its allegedly deceptive advertising, those penalties were assessed under the Loan Broker Act, Section 687.141, Florida Statutes (1991), which provides a much higher penalty than authorized by the Retail Installment Sales See Section 687.143, Fla. Stat. (1991) (\$5,000 per violation as opposed to \$1,000 per violation). Given the separate regulatory schemes in Florida for retail installment sellers and loan brokers, and the exemption provided for retail installment sellers in the Loan Broker Act, Section 687.14(4), Fla. Stat. (1991), it is difficult to envision that the Florida Legislature intended for the Department to apply the prohibitions and penalties of the Loan Broker Act to retail installment sellers.

adopted the \$378,000 penalty recommended by the hearing officer. (R. 1367). On appeal, the District Court, relying on a well-established line of Florida and federal case law precedent, set aside those penalties based upon its determination that the application of the licensing provisions of Florida's Retail Installment Sales Act to Credicorp violated the Commerce Clause. Based upon the authority of prior decisions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court, as applied to the facts of this case, the District Court's holding must be affirmed.

A. APPLICATION TO CREDICORP OF THE LICENSING PROVISIONS OF SECTION 520.32, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), VIOLATES THE COMMERCE CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Article I, § 8, cl. 3 of the United States Constitution expressly authorizes Congress to "regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among the several States." "The obvious purpose of the quoted provision was to assure the free and unimpeded transportation and exchange of goods between the states." Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 118 So. 2d 195, 199 (Fla. 1960). Although the Commerce Clause is silent about the protection of interstate commerce in the absence of any action by Congress, it has been interpreted as having dormant implications which prohibit certain state actions that interfere with interstate commerce. South Carolina State Highway Department v. Barnwell Bros., Inc., 303 U.S. 177, 185, 58 S. Ct. 510, 82 L. Ed. 734 (1938). Not all burdens upon commerce are forbidden, only those which are "undue" or "discriminatory." Nippert v. City of Richmond, 327 U.S. 416, 425, 66 S. Ct. 586, 90 L. Ed. 760 (1946) (citations omitted);

Armstrong, 118 So. 2d at 199. The states, in the exercise of the reserved police power, may enact statutes in furtherance of public health, safety and convenience that may burden interstate commerce, -- provided that such statutes are "local" in character and bear upon interstate commerce only "incidentally." Boston & M. R. Co. v. Armburg, 285 U.S. 234, 238, 52 S. Ct. 336, 76 L. Ed. 729 (1932).

The question presented by this appeal is whether Florida can impose a licensing requirement and annual fee on an out-of-state retail installment seller that solicits and sells to Florida residents, but which reaches this state only by United States mail and common carrier. Based upon the well-established precedents recognized by the District Court in its opinion, this question must be answered in the negative.

It has long been settled by the Florida Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court that a state or local government may not constitutionally impose licensing requirements or fixed sum license fees upon out-of-state entities who merely solicit orders from residents of that state. Robbins v. Taxing District of Shelby County, 120 U.S. 489, 7 S. Ct. 592, 30 L. Ed. 694 (1887) (state statute imposing license tax upon drummers, i.e., persons soliciting trade by use of samples, is a regulation of interstate commerce and therefore unconstitutional as applied to out-of-state entities); Real Silk Hosiery Mills, Inc. v. City of Portland, 268 U.S. 325, 45 S. Ct. 525, 69 L. Ed. 982 (1925) (license and license fee imposed on solicitors taking orders for hosiery to be shipped to puyers from another state burdens interstate commerce); Nippert

v. City of Richmond, 327 U.S. 416 (1946) (reaffirmed "drummer" line of cases and held licensing ordinance unconstitutional as applied to out-of-state solicitor); National Bellas Hess, Inc. v. Department of Revenue of Ill., 386 U.S. 753, 87 S. Ct. 1389, 18 L. Ed. 2d 505 (1967) (application of Illinois Use Tax Act to out-ofstate mail order firm which maintains no office, no agents or solicitors, owns no property, and had no telephone listing in Illinois, is an unconstitutional burden on interstate commerce); Cason v. Quinby, 60 Fla. 35, 53 So. 741 (Fla. 1910) (license fee imposed on salesmen for Pennsylvania corporation invalid as a burden upon interstate commerce); Myers v. City of Miami, 100 Fla. 1537, 131 So. 375 (Fla. 1930) (license fee assessed on out-of-state solicitors invalid burden on interstate commerce); Olan Mills, Inc. v. City of Tallahassee, 100 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1958) (flat sum privilege tax imposed by municipality on non-resident photographers unduly burdensome on interstate commerce and therefore invalid); Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 118 So. 2d 195 (Fla. 1960) (flat sum license tax assessed against New York corporation's salaried supervisor and individual sales representatives void as burdening interstate commerce); see also 51 Am. Jur. 2d Licenses and Permits § 22 (1970).

Significantly, the United States Supreme Court has not receded from this line of authority even in light of a pragmatic shift in Commerce Clause jurisprudence in which the Court has recognized that interstate commerce may be required to "pay its way."

Nippert, 327 U.S. at 425. The Florida Supreme Court too has

consistently adhered to its earlier decisions invalidating license fees as applied to entities engaged solely in interstate commerce as evidenced by its reaffirmation of its holding in Olan Mills, Inc. v. City of Tallahassee in Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 118 So. 2d at 199. In Armstrong, the City of Tampa attempted to impose a fixed-sum license or privilege tax on local sales solicitors for Avon Products, Inc., a New York corporation. The products sold by the Avon solicitors were shipped to Florida by Avon via interstate carrier. Significantly, this Court held that the fixed-sum license tax impeded the flow of interstate commerce and therefore violated the Commerce Clause because it was imposed on the solicitors as a condition precedent to engaging in interstate commerce. Id. at 199-200.

Notably, the District Court in Armstrong had sustained the license tax based on decisions holding that interstate commerce could be required to carry its fair share of the cost of local government, id. at 198, and on the authority of a prior decision of this Court in Dorsett v. Overstreet, 154 Fla. 566, 18 So. 2d 759, 767 (1944), overruled by Armstrong v. City of Tampa, 118 So. 2d 195 (Fla. 1960), which, on rehearing, held that a broker soliciting orders for placement with out-of-state principals could be required to obtain an occupational license. Armstrong, 118 So. 2d at 200. Importantly, this Court in Armstrong specifically receded from its majority opinion on rehearing in Dorsett, finding that case to be "completely inconsistent with all of the Florida cases on the subject" and having "no regard whatever for the earlier

precedents." Armstrong, 118 So. 2d at 200-01. This Court also took the opportunity to reaffirm its holding in Olan Mills by stating:

The effect of our holding in the last Olan Mills case simply was that the city could not carve out of the interstate process the incident of solicitation as a separate and distinct aspect of the transaction upon which the tax could be imposed. We held that the solicitation constituted an inseparable link in the chain of events. The flat sum license impost was held to be a direct tax upon the privilege of engaging in interstate commerce. It had to fall.

Armstrong, 118 So. 2d at 199. Accordingly, the United States Supreme Court's pronouncements as well as this Court's decisional history on the invalidity of licenses and flat sum license fees as applied to out-of-state entities merely soliciting business in Florida have continuing vitality and applicability to situations such as that presented by this appeal.³

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